IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-0847-COA

BENJAMIN ROBERSON

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

George T. Holmes, MSB N MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant



APPELLANT

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-0847-COA

BENJAMIN ROBERSON

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1:	WHETHER ROBERSON'S STATEMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED?
ISSUE NO. 2:	WHETHER RULE 412 WAS PROPERLY APPLIED?
ISSUE NO. 3:	WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS RULING REGARDING YOUTH COURT RECORDS?
ISSUE NO. 4:	WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE?
ISSUE NO. 5:	WHETHER THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE VERDICT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi where Benjamin Roberson was convicted of sexual battery under Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-95 (2) (1972) after a jury trial conducted May 7-8, 2009.¹ The Honorable Richard A. Smith, Circuit Judge, presided. Roberson was sentenced to twenty-five (25) years, with five (5) years suspended, and is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

¹

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-95 (2) (1972) A person is guilty of sexual battery if he or she engages in sexual penetration with a child under the age of eighteen (18) years if the person is in a position of trust or authority over the child including without limitation the child's teacher, counselor, physician, psychiatrist, psychologist, minister, priest, physical therapist, chiropractor, legal guardian, parent, stepparent, aunt, uncle, scout leader or coach.

FACTS

R. P. was a fourteen year old girl in June of 2007, living in Greenville. [T. 215, 299-301]. She snuck out of her house in the early morning hours of Monday, June 18, 2007 to visit a boy friend. *Id.* Her mother, Shiela Bracy, discovered R. P. missing about 4:00 a. m. *Id.* Ms. Bracy called the police. [*Id.*, T. 204-05].

Greenville Officer Benjamin Roberson responded to the call. [T. 216, 396-97]. After he spoke with Ms. Bracy, Roberson, Ms. Bracy and her 15 year old son, drove in two vehicles to look for R. P. in the area in which she was suspected to have gone. [T. 217, 240, 397].

As they drove, they spotted R. P. riding her bike in the rain on the side of the road. [T. 217-18, 230, 234, 300, 397]. Ms. Bracy immediately got out of her van and scolded the girl. [T. 218]. Then Ms. Bracy asked Roberson to take R. P. into custody to be dealt with by the Washington County Youth Court. [T. 218, 314, 397]. There had been ongoing problems with R. P. lying to her mother and running away and she was on probation. [T. 234, 238; Ex. Folder p. 30; Ex. S-1].

Roberson took the girl into custody, and when he got to the city jail, he telephoned the Washington County Youth Court, who instructed Roberson to release R. P. back to her mother. [T. 205, 06, 398-99]. When Roberson returned R. P. to her mother, R. P. ran out the back door. [T. 220, 234, 315, 399-400]. Ms. Bracy flagged Roberson down as he drove off. *Id.* They looked for R. P. again, but could not find her. [T. *Id.*, 221]. Two other officers responded and helped out. *Id.* The three policemen finally left after R. P. could not be located. *Id.*

Later the same morning, Ms. Bracy hid her vehicle at a friend's house so that R. P. would think she was at work and come back home. [T. 221-22, 235]. The ruse worked, R. P. snuck back home and found her mother waiting inside. [T. 222, 235, 316]. Ms. Bracy whipped R. P. and called the police again to take her into custody. [T. 222-23, 235, 316]. R. P. stayed in the Washington County juvenile jail for about fourteen (14) days and then was transported to Brentwood Behavioral Healthcare of Mississippi in Flowood. [T. 223, 317].

When R. P. was being processed into Brentwood, she was given a routine urine pregnancy test which turned up positive. [T. 188, 223-24, 317]. When she was asked by her mother and nurse about the circumstances, R. P. said the policeman that transported her from the side of the road to the city jail first drove her to a secluded place by the levee where the officer had sexual intercourse with her. [T. 191, 224, 317-18].

The police officer to whom she referred was the appellant, Benjamin Roberson. [T. 200, 216, 303]. The allegation was reported to the Greenville Police Department. [T. 196, 198-99, 227]. A second blood pregnancy test was performed, and it indicated that R. P. was not pregnant after all. [T. 94, 97, 104,191, 323].

Roberson heard of the allegations and called Lt. Dondi Gibbs in the Criminal Investigation Division (CID) of the Greenville Police Department. [T. 48-49, 57, 76, 400]. Roberson asked Gibbs about the charges. *Id.* Gibbs said he could not talk about it just then, but told Roberson he would call back. [T. 49-50, 57, 248-49, 262, 271, 400-01].

Gibbs then spoke with the investigator handling the case, Sgt. Michael Merchant, and they decided to have Roberson come down to the police station for an interview. *Id.* So, Gibbs called Roberson back, and Roberson immediately came to the CID unit, and spoke with Gibbs and Merchant. *Id.* Roberson was accompanied by a woman, later identified as Mika McDaniel, who stayed in the front of the police station during the interview. [*Id.*, T. 276].

3

Roberson, Gibbs and Merchant discussed the allegations. Roberson expressed concern about having counsel present for the interview, and for his safety if he were to be incarcerated, and the possibility of probation. [T. 15, 28, 35, 52, 54, 58-61, 68-69, 78, 80, 249-51, 265, 269, 401-03].

The details of what occurred during the conference at the CID were disputed through a motion to suppress. [R. 109-16; T. 7-93]. Roberson, who secretly had a tape recorder at the meeting with Gibbs and Merchant, said that he informed the investigators that, since the allegations were so serious, he wanted an attorney present. [T. 15, 59, 78, 401-02]. The officers said that Roberson only asked if they thought he needed a lawyer and they told Roberson it was up to him. [T. 28, 60].

Roberson's tape was inaudible. [T. 26-27, 79, 402]. During the interview, Roberson was text-messaging Mika McDaniel who was waiting outside. [T. 51, 80, 371, 411, 428].

Roberson said he was promised probation, but the investigators said that, while probation was discussed, no promises were made. [T. 54, 251, 269]. It was generally agreed that the particular nature of Roberson's incarceration was discussed as well. [T. 35, 52, 54, 58, 61, 68-69, 80, 249-51, 265, 402-03]. Being a police officer, Roberson would need to be segregated from inmates who might intend harm. *Id*.

Gibbs and Merchant told Roberson they would do what they could to see that Roberson was protected and afforded an opportunity to obtain bond before being held for any length of time in jail. [T. 251, 265]. Roberson said the officers committed to do all they could to get him probation in exchange for giving a statement, but the officers said no such commitments were made. [T. 68-69, 80, 403].

Merchant said Roberson called a lawyer during the interview. [T. 13, 35, 266]. The attorney testified at the suppression hearing that he was contacted by Roberson on the date the interview was given. [T. 45]. Merchant and Gibbs advised that Roberson was not under arrest during the interview. Contrarily, Roberson said he did not feel free to leave. [T. 80, 401]. Roberson said he felt they were going to take him into custody if he did not make a statement. [T. 79, 404].

On the same day as the conference with Roberson, but prior to, Merchant had interviewed R. P. at Brentwood. [T. 206]. Sheila Bracy was present during this meeting, as well as a subsequent interview a couple of weeks later. [T. 227, 241, 243-44, 364]. R. P. made her allegations against Roberson and gave a hand written statement. [T. 190; Ex. Folder pp. 34-35; D-1]. So, Merchant had the details of the allegations when speaking with Roberson.

Roberson was read the *Miranda* warnings and ultimately signed a statement admitting intercourse with R. P. after being told to release the girl back to her mother by the Youth Court Judge. [T. 51-54, 67, 251, 254-56, 263, 367, 404; Ex, S3].² Roberson was released after the interview, but was arrested later the same day on a warrant the police obtained. [T. 29-30, 255-56, 258, 291-92,]. Roberson was twenty-five (25) years old at the time. [T. 292].

Mika McDaniel, who accompanied Roberson to the police station for his interview, testified that she met Roberson in 2004 or 2005. [T. 283]. They became romantically involved in 2007 for about two and a half months even though Roberson was married, but separated. [T. 274, 279]. In July of 2007, McDaniel said Roberson advised her that a young girl's mother was

² Ref. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 476, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 1629 (1966).

accusing him of raping the daughter. [T. 275, 278]. Roberson reportedly admitted to McDaniel that he had sex with the girl, but, told McDaniel it was consensual, and he did not know what came over him. *Id*.

Ms. McDaniel said she received text messages from Roberson while he was in the CID unit being interviewed. [T. 276]. One message, according to McDaniel, stated that Roberson was going to make a statement advising the officers of "the truth." *Id*.

McDaniel said that, as of two months before the trial, she was no longer romantically involved with Roberson and that he had reconciled with his wife. [T. 278, 283]. McDaniel testified that she assisted Roberson in his defense of the charges and even went with Roberson to meetings with his defense counsel. [T. 282, 284]. However, after Roberson had reconciled with his wife, and unknown to Roberson, McDaniel gave a statement to the district attorney on July 21, 2008, stating that Roberson admitted having sex with R. P. in the back of his police cruiser. [T. 282, 284].

R. P. testified that, after Roberson took her into custody on that rainy night in June, he took her directly to a secluded spot by a levee near a casino. [T. 304-05, 327]. She said that Roberson got her out of the back seat and placed her in the front passenger seat and told her to pull her pants down, at which time Roberson allegedly fondled her vagina. [T. 306]. R. P. said that, even though she was handcuffed, she was able to pull her pants down, one side at a time. [T. 341-42, 357].

R. P. said that Roberson got her out of the car, and after feeling around on the ground for a dry spot, finding none, leaned her face down over the hood of the police car, and placed his penis in her vagina from behind. [T. 308-11]. According to R. P.'s trial testimony, Roberson then told R. P. to use water from a rain puddle to clean herself, which she did. [T. 311-13, 342]. Then, R. P. said Roberson took her to the police station, called the Youth Court Judge, then returned her to her mother's house, where she then ran out the back door. [T. 313-15].

Contrary to her trial testimony, in R. P.'s written statement, she stated Roberson had sex with her on the ground instead of the hood of the car. [T. 343-47, 353-54, 359; Ex. Folder pp. 34-35; Ex. D-1]. R. P. testified at trial that she remained handcuffed the whole time, even though she left this detail out of her statement to police. [T. 341-43, 350].

Roberson testified at trial, denying all of the allegations of R. P. [T. 396-99, 422, 424]. Roberson explained that his admissions to police were coerced. [T. 403-04, 408, 413, 418].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Roberson's purported confession should have been suppressed. The trial court erroneously excluded impeachment evidence under Miss. R. Evid. Rule 412. The trial court mishandled Roberson's request to obtain Youth Court records. Alternatively, Roberson's trial counsel was ineffective for not taking necessary steps to have medical and Youth Court records properly admitted. The verdict is not supported by the weight of evidence.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER ROBERSON'S STATEMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED?

Roberson testified at his suppression hearing that he informed the police that, since the charges against him were so serious, it would be in his "best interest to have an attorney present" during his discussions with Gibbs and Merchant. [T. 15, 59, 77-78, 401-02]. The officers reported the that Roberson asked them if he needed a lawyer. [T. 15, 59]. Neither officer felt in necessary to stop or suspend the interview and clarify whether Roberson was invoking his right to counsel, even though Roberson stopped to call an attorney. [T. 28, 60.]. Roberson said he was also promised favorable conditions if incarcerated plus probation in exchange for his alleged confession. [T. 35, 52, 54, 58, 61, 68-69, 80, 249-51, 265, 269, 402-03]. The trial court denied Roberson's motion to suppress with a written opinion. [R. 121-23].

Request for Counsel

In *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U. S. 477, 484-85, 101 S. Ct. 1880, 68 L. Ed.2d 378 (1981) the court created a "bright line" rule holding that, "once an accused has requested counsel during the interrogation process, the accused may not be questioned further until the attorney is present, unless the accused voluntarily begins to talk again." 451 U.S. 484-85. This "bright line rule ... prevents overriding a suspect's unequivocal request for counsel by badgering or lesser forms of persistence". *Id*.

In Jones v. State, 461 So. 2d 686 (Miss. 1984), the court reminded that:

When an accused makes an in-custody inculpatory statement without the advice or presence of counsel, even though warnings and advice regarding his privilege against self-incrimination have been fully and fairly given, the state shoulders a heavy burden to show a knowing and intelligent waiver. [cites omitted] That burden is proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Id.

Here in Roberson's case, not only did he expressly state a desire to have counsel present, he even called a lawyer. This should have been clear indication to Gibbs and Merchant that Roberson was indeed invoking his right to counsel.

"[A]ny statement taken after the person invokes his privilege cannot be other than the product of compulsion, subtle or otherwise." *Jones*, 461 So. 2d at 699. If a statement is a product of compulsion, it is not voluntary, and fails the two part requirement for admission into evidence. *Id.* at 696. See also *Cox v. State*, 586 So. 2d 761, 763 (Miss.1991).

In *Holland v. State*, 587 So. 2d 848, 856-58 (Miss.1991), Holland urged on appeal that a confession he gave should not have been admitted into evidence because he asked during interrogation "Don't you think I need a lawyer?" The supreme court ruled that Holland's inquiry was an ambiguous invocation of the right to counsel and questioned then "whether the police detective responded ... within constitutional parameters." *Id.* The interrogating officers repeated Holland's right to counsel and that he was not required to talk to them, but the they wanted to hear his side of the events, to which Holland said, "OK", he would talk to them. This was not an overreaching according to the court, rather, a clarification of the ambiguous question. *Id.*

According to *Holland*, "[i]f a defendant makes equivocal or ambiguous utterances which could be interpreted as an invocation [of the right to counsel], then [there should be a] cessation of interrogation except for strictly-limited inquiry for clarification purposes, and, "any subsequent interrogation 'must be limited to attempts to clarify and must not coerce or intimidate the suspect into waiving his rights." [Extensive cites omitted.]. "Of utmost import, an interrogator's 'behavior' must not exceed the limits of permissible clarification. Courts have concluded that determining the propriety of such behavior is essentially a factual issue' that requires 'review under a clearly erroneous standard' ... The 'critical factor' in determining the validity of the government's behavior is 'whether a review of the whole event discloses that the interviewing agent has impinged on the exercise of the suspect's continuing option to cut off the interview.'" *Id*.

Even if Roberson's request for presence of counsel is deemed ambiguous, the interrogating officers, nevertheless, had an obligation to cease questioning and clarify whether Roberson was invoking his right to counsel. As the record shows however, the limited scope of follow-up clarification set out in *Holland* was not followed, as the officers here had no intention to clarify, nor were they even aware of the obligation to clarify. [T. 28, 60.]

Involuntary via Inducements

Involuntary confessions are inadmissible. *Carley v. State*, 739 So. 2d 1046, 1500 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999), *Neal v. State*, 451 So. 2d 743, 750 (Miss. 1984), *Morgan v. State*, 681 So. 2d 82, 87 (Miss. 1996), Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U. S. Constitution and Article 3, § 26 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890. The state has the burden to prove voluntariness of a confession beyond reasonable doubt, and may meet this burden "by offering the testimony of those individuals having knowledge of the facts that the confession was given without threats, coercion, or offer of reward." *Carley*, 739 So. 2d 1500. See also *Haymer v. State*, 613 So. 2d 837, 839 (Miss. 1993); *Kirkland v. State*, 559 So. 2d 1046 (Miss. 1990).

The burden is met and a prima facie case is established with testimony from officers, or persons with knowledge of the facts, that the confession was voluntarily

given free from threats, coercion, or offers of reward. *Cox v. State*, 586 So. 2d 761, 763 (Miss. 1991). In the present case, the state failed to meet its burden. Roberson was given the impression of hope of reward by delay of arrest, safe incarceration and probation.

The standard of review regarding the admissibility of a confession is for the reviewing court to determine under the totality of the circumstances whether the "correct legal standard was applied ..., [whether] manifest error was committed, or [whether] the decision [of the trial court] is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *Tyler v. State*, 911 So. 2d 550, 554-56 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

Roberson was *Mirandised*. [T. 51-54, 251, 254, 263, 367; Ex. S3]. However, according to *Neal v. State, supra*, regardless of the number of times the *Miranda* warnings are given, or how "meticulous", inculpatory statements are not automatically admissible. 451 So. 2d at 753. Even when the trial court record shows the warnings have "been fully and fairly given," the State nevertheless "shoulders a heavy burden to show a knowing and intelligent waiver." *Id*.

In the present case, Roberson was induced into making an involuntary statement, admitting to sexual penetration with a fourteen-year-old, to avoid immediate arrest and being housed with regular inmates. Roberson's statements were a direct *quid pro quo* in exchange for favorable treatment.

In Abram v. State, 606 So. 2d 1015, 1031 (Miss. 1992), the court said:

[w]e have repeatedly condemned the practice whereby law enforcement interrogators, or related third parties, convey to suspects the impression, however slight, that cooperation by the suspect might be of some benefit. See also, *Robinson v. State*, 157 So. 2d 49, 51 (Miss. 1963) and *Layne v. State*, 542 So. 2d 237, 240 (Miss. 1989).

In Abram, the Supreme Court reversed based on a confession induced by the

11

defendant being "confronted with the possibility of mercy or the death penalty" by the sheriff and was given the impression that a confession to a murder would "work to his advantage" and was coaxed to consider the "religious consequences of his actions" and told "that the law would cooperate with Abram if Abram cooperated with the law", plus was reassured that "it would look better" if he cooperated. 606 So. 2d at 1031.

In reversing, the *Abrams* court also stated:

A confession made after the accused has been offered some hope of reward if he will confess or tell the truth cannot be said to be voluntary. ... [T]he plain fact is that Abram was given hope of leniency, and was confronted with the legal and religious consequences of his refusal to cooperate.

In Miller v. State, 243 So. 2d 558 (Miss. 1971), the court ruled a confession

involuntary and inadmissible because the defendant was induced by prodding from the sheriff that the defendant would be better off by telling the truth. 243 So. 2d at 559; see also, *Robinson v. State*, 157 So. 2d 49, 51 (Miss. 1963).

Roberson's confession was coerced by the state's circumvention of his rights under 5th, 6th, and 14th Amendments to the U. S. Constitution as well as by Article 3 §26 of the Mississippi Constitution. Evidence of the confession should have been suppressed. If there is "... any evidence that the accused was threatened, tricked, or cajoled into a waiver will, of course, show that the defendant did not voluntarily waive his privilege." *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 476, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 1629 (1966).

In Jones v. State, 461 So. 2d 686 (Miss. 1984), the court said:

[w]hen an accused makes an in-custody inculpatory statement without the advice or presence of counsel, even though warnings and advice regarding his privilege against self-incrimination have been fully and fairly given, the state shoulders a heavy burden to show a knowing and intelligent waiver. The error here was not harmless. With all of the conflicting testimony from the

prosecutrix, a different verdict was likely without Roberson's purported confession. The

appellant respectfully requests a new trial.

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER RULE 412 WAS PROPERLY APPLIED?

The state filed a motion in limine under Miss. R. Evid. Rule 412 to exclude evidence of

unrelated sexual activity of R. P. [R. 126-27].³ On the other hand, the defense wanted to use

limited information that R. P. had made false accusation of sexual offenses and filed a Notice

3

Pertinent portions of Miss. R. Evid. 412:

Rule 412. Sex Offense Cases; Relevance of Victim's Past Behavior

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