IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BENJAMIN ROBERSON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-0847-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AS NOT
	HAVING BEEN PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL
	COURT AND WAIVED
IV.	
	DEFENDANT HAD CONSTITUTIONALLY
	EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL
V.	
	CONTRADICTIONS IN THE EVIDENCE ARE
	DECIDED BY THE JURY 15
CONCLUSION	N
CERTIFICAT	E OF SERVICE 18

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

STATE CASES

Blakeney v. State, 2009 WL 4591083 (Miss.App. 2009)
Cannon v. State, 918 So.2d 734 (Miss.App. 2005) 11
Fluker v. State, 2010 WL 610704 (Miss.App. 2010) 11, 13
Keys v. State, 963 So.2d 1193, 1197 5
Ladd v. State, 969 So.2d 141, 146 -147 (Miss.App. 2007)
re J.E., 726 So.2d 547 (Miss. 1998) 10
Sanders v. State, 678 So.2d 663, 670-71 (Miss.1996)
Smith v. State, 737 So.2d 377 (Miss.Ct.App.1998)
Smith v. State, 821 So.2d 908, 910 (Miss.Ct.App.2002) 15
Wilcher v. State, 863 So.2d 776, 825 (Miss. 2003) 13
Williams v. State, 2009 WL 4808181 (Miss.App. 2009)
Windham v. State 800 So.2d 1257 (Miss.App. 2001) 10

STATE STATUTES

.

Miss.Code Ann. § 43-21-261 (R	Rev.2000) 10)
Miss. Code Ann. ¶ 97-3-95(2)		Į

ii

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BENJAMIN ROBERSON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-0847-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Grand Jury of Washington County indicted police officer, Benjamin Roberson for the crime of Sexual Battery in violation of *Miss. Code Ann.* ¶ 97-3-95(2). (C.p.)After a trial by jury, the Honorable Richard A Smith presiding, the jury found defendant guilty. (C.p. 181). Subsequently, defendant was sentenced to 25 years, 20 to serve with 5 years of post-release supervision and costs of court. (Sentencing order, c.p. 191-192).

The trial court overruled the motion for JNOV and motion for new trial on July 16, 2009. (C.p. 234) The notice of appeal appears to have been filed two months earlier on May 22, 2009 (C.p. 188).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant, a police office while on duty had sexual intercourse with a runaway child (14 year old girl) before transferring her back to her Mother's custody.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT I.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS OF DEFENDANT.

Defendant voluntarily went to the police station to answer some questions and freely left a couple of hours later. The officer was *Mirandized* and waived his right to counsel.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED RULE 412 IN GRANTING THE STATE'S MOTION IN LIMINE ABOUT PAST SEXUAL CONDUCT OF VICTIM.

Past sexual of a sexual assault victim is irrelevant and inadmissible.

III.

THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AS NOT HAVING BEEN PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL COURT AND WAIVED.

Youth court records are generally not available and the Circuit Court does not have authority to compel production.

IV.

DEFENDANT HAD CONSTITUTIONALLY EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Defendant was hopelessly guilty and could not satisfy the prejudice prong of *Strickland*, or alternatively, this issue should be deferred to a properly pleaded post-conviction proceeding.

V.

CONTRADICTIONS IN THE EVIDENCE ARE DECIDED BY THE JURY.

Contradictions in the testimony and evidence are decided by the jury.

3

ARGUMENT I.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS OF DEFENDANT.

In this initial allegation of trial court error defendant seeks a new trial – without his confessions to police for the jury to consider.

Officer Roberson made statements to police that he had intercourse with the child. Defense made a pre-trial motion to suppress those statements. (Motion to Suppress C.p. 39-44), the State filed a response, (C.p. 109-116), a hearing was had, (Tr. 5-93), and the trial judge issued an order outlining findings of fact and conclusions of law. (C.p. 121-123).

 \P 12. The standard of review concerning a trial judge's ruling on a motion to suppress evidence is well established:

When reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admission of evidence, [an appellate court] must assess whether there was substantial credible evidence to support the trial court's findings. The admission of the evidence lies within the discretion of the trial court and will be reversed only if that discretion is abused.

Ellis v. State, 21 So.3d 669, 673 (Miss.App. 2009).

This is one of those records that is very complete and the facts and rationale of

the trial courts ruling are amply documented. (Order denying motion to suppress c.p.

121-123).

Defendant claims in his brief that he tried to call his attorney during the

questioning at the police department. The trial judge noted the attorney (Mitchel

Creel) did not get any calls from defendant on that date, during the time of the

questioning. Tr. 43-46.

The trial court specifically found the questioning was non-custodial and did not

implicate Miranda.

¶ 30. . . . To determine whether a person is considered to be "in custody[,]" we consider whether "a reasonable person would feel that they were going to jail and not just being temporarily detained." Keys v. State, 963 So.2d 1193, 1197 (¶ 9) (Miss.Ct.App.2007) (citation omitted). "A subject is in custody when his right to leave freely has been restricted." Bell v. State, 963 So.2d 1124, 1134 (¶ 25) (Miss.2007) (citing Roberts v. State, 301 So.2d 859, 861 (Miss.1974)). The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that:

Whether a reasonable person would feel that she was "in custody" depends on the totality of the circumstances, and may include factors such as: (a) the place of interrogation; (b) the time of interrogation; (c) the people present; (d) the amount of force or physical restraint used by the officers; (e) the length and form of the questions; (f) whether the defendant comes to the authorities voluntarily; and (g) what the defendant is told about the situation.

Blakeney v. State, 2009 WL 4591083 (Miss.App. 2009).

The trial court in its order listed enumerated facts support the questioning was

non-custodial.

Consequently, the trial court correctly concluded it was non-custodial and did

not implicate the 5th or 6th amendment right to counsel.

¶ 16. "[T]he judge should ascertain, under a totality of the circumstances and beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant's statement was freely and voluntarily given, and was not the result of force, threat, or intimidation." Baldwin v. State, 757 So.2d 227, 234-35(¶ 28) (Miss.2000). "Determining whether a confession is admissible is a finding of fact which is not disturbed unless the trial judge applied *1104 an incorrect legal standard, committed manifest error, or the decision was contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence." Hicks, 812 So.2d at 191(¶ 32).

Dixon v. State, 17 So.3d 1099 (Miss.App. 2009).

It is the succinct position of the State the transcript fully and sufficiently supports with credible testimony each fact to support the trial court order denying relief.

Consequently, no relief should be granted based on this allegation of error.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED RULE 412 IN GRANTING THE STATE'S MOTION IN LIMINE ABOUT PAST SEXUAL CONDUCT OF VICTIM.

II.

The State filed a motion in limine regarding the victim's past behavior pursuant to Rule 412. (C.p. 126-127). The trial court conducted a hearing on March 6, 2009.. (Tr. 94-106). The trial court granted the State's motion by written order incorporating findings of fact and conclusions of law. (March 25th, 2009, C.p.130). Further, the trial court made specific findings that defendant had not followed the requirements of the rule specifically paragraph 'c' sub-sections (1) or (2) that the defense intended to offer evidence of the victim's past behavior.

Subsequently, in May of 2009 trial counsel did file a notice of intent to use prior sexual history. (C.p. 152). The trial court ruled from the bend on the matter on the day of trial. Tr. 140-141. At trial such questions were not allowed, i.e., Tr. 351-52.

 \P 25. Besides being irrelevant to the charge at hand, there is also nothing in the record indicating that Ladd complied with the requirements of Rule 412(c)(1). Under Rule 412(c)(1), a party intending to offer evidence of a victim's past sexual behavior must submit a written motion to offer that evidence no later than fifteen days before trial. We have previously ruled that it was proper to disallow impeachment of a victim of a sexual offense when the defendant *147 failed to follow such procedures. Aguilar v. State, 955 So.2d 386, 393(¶ 22) (Miss.Ct.App.2006).

Ladd v. State, 969 So.2d 141, 146 -147 (Miss.App. 2007).

7

Basically within this allegation of error appellate counsel seeks to hold the trial court in error because he 'substantially' complied with the requirement of the rule. (Def. Br. P. 14, last paragraph).

The State will rely upon the terse rational of *Ladd*, ... besides being irrelevant defendant did not comply. Additionally even at this late juncture counsel seems to misconstrue apparently arguing that 'prior sexual activity' is equivalent to "having made unfounded allegations of sexual misconduct against other persons."

The trial court was absolutely correct and in the interest of justice sustained the State's motion in limine.

No relief should be granted on this allegation of trial court error.

8

THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AS NOT HAVING BEEN PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL COURT AND WAIVED.

III.

Continuing to challenge his conviction defendant now assert quite boldly that the trial court should have done more to get the youth court records of the victim to help in his defense.

First, the State will posit this issue is procedurally barred as not having been presented to the trial court, nor mentioned in the motion for new trial. (Motion for New Trial, Tr. 186-187).

¶ 70.... We conclude, therefore, that [the] failure to affirmatively raise the issue at the trial level works as a *bar to our consideration of the issue on appeal under the well-known principle that the primary purpose of an appellate court is to correct erroneous rulings by the trial court and not to rule on alleged errors that were not presented to the trial court for decision in the first instance.* Sanders v. State, 678 So.2d 663, 670-71 (Miss.1996). Because delays in bringing a matter to trial may work to the defendant's advantage, we do not consider a claim that the defendant was denied a speedy trial to be a matter of plain error or fundamental error that may be raised for the first time on appeal. Therefore, we find ... this issue to be procedurally barred.

Williams v. State, 2009 WL 4808181 (Miss.App. 2009)(dec. 12-15-2009).

Additionally, without waiving any procedural bar to review, this issue is without merit. Again, for strategic reasons trial counsel dutifully filed a motion for youth court records with the youth court, (ex parte), and consequently did not serve it on the prosecution or the child victim's court appointed guardian ad litem. (C.p. 158-159). It would also appear such filings were done just three days before the trial start date of May 7, 2009. (C.p. 154-157).

There is an extensive discussion regarding the youth court records and efforts to obtain same. Tr. 141-153. It does not appear to have been any further effort to obtain the records or appeal the ruling of the trial court.

The only authority cited within the brief is In re J.E., 726 So.2d 547 (Miss.

1998).

¶ 7. We do not think that In re J.E. answers the issue before us. The statutory provisions relating to the confidentiality of youth court records are not absolute by any means. The statute itself provides that the confidentiality requirement may be overridden by a determination that disclosure would advance the child's best interests or the public safety. Miss. Code Ann. § 43-21-261 (Rev. 2000). The authority to release records is vested in the discretion of the youth court judge. The Mississippi Supreme Court, in ordering the provisional release of the records for possible evidentiary use on a showing of need by the defendant, did not decide the case on the basis that the defendant's constitutional rights had trumped provisions of a state statute that required a different result. Rather, the court simply determined that the youth court judge had abused his discretion in flatly denying the defendant's request for access on the ground that "where the issues are weighty, as here, the best interest of the child, as well the proper and just functioning of our youth court system, demands that [the defendant] have limited access to the materials he seeks." In re J.E., 726 So.2d at 553 (¶ 22).

Windham v. State 800 So.2d 1257 (Miss.App. 2001)(emphasis added).

However, it would appear this issue was not pursued and the trial court cannot

be held in error. This was clearly a 'fishing expedition' - the trial court asked defense

if there was a proffer of what might be in the youth court records that would be evidence of previous false accusations of sexual misconduct. (Tr. 149.)

¶ 37. . . . [Defendant] has not indicated the existence of additional evidence, which he was not allowed to offer. In the absence of such indication, and of a proffer of the evidence, this Court finds this issue lacks merit. Baldwin, 732 So.2d at (¶ 35); Smith v. State, 737 So.2d 377 (¶¶ 12, 13) (Miss.Ct.App.1998).

Cannon v. State, 918 So.2d 734 (Miss.App. 2005).

This issue is procedurally has having been waived and, alternatively, without

merit it law. No relief should be granted based upon this allegation of error.

Oh, and as far as defendant's lastly tacked on ineffective assistance of counsel

claim such is just not amenable to be decided based upon this record. Fluker v. State,

2010 WL 610704, (¶ 13)(Miss.App. 2010)(dec. 2-23-2010).

IV.

DEFENDANT HAD CONSTITUTIONALLY EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Now comes the ineffective assistance of counsel claim for 1) failure to get impeach evidence of the victim's prior sexual behavior; 2) failure to obtain Youth Court records.

First, the State would posit the record is insufficient to address this issue.

Within the argument there is not any showing of what evidence there was that had it

been obtained, was found to be relevant, introduced would have changed the outcome

of the trial. There is nothing presented to present a counter- argument.

Second, it would appear the reviewing Court's of Mississippi are deferring

such decisions to post-conviction proceedings.

¶ 13. The Mississippi Supreme Court has previously held that:

It is unusual for this [c]ourt to consider a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel when the claim is made on direct appeal. This is because we are limited to the trial court record in our review of the claim[,] and there is usually insufficient evidence within the record to evaluate the claim. The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that, where the record cannot support an ineffective assistance of counsel claim on direct appeal, the appropriate conclusion is to deny relief, preserving the defendant's right to argue the same issue through a petition for post-conviction relief. This Court will rule on the merits on the rare occasions where (1) the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions, or (2) the parties stipulate that the record is adequate to allow the appellate court to make the finding without consideration of the findings of fact of the trial judge. Wilcher v. State, 863 So.2d 776, 825 (¶ 171) (Miss.2003) (internal citations and quotations omitted). Because Fluker's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel do not fall within the exceptions for addressing this issue on direct appeal, we find that Fluker's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel would be more appropriately raised in a petition for post-conviction relief. Therefore, we deny Fluker relief on this issue without prejudice to allow Fluker to pursue post-conviction relief if he desires to do so.

Fluker v. State, 2010 WL 610704 (Miss.App. 2010)(dec. 2-23-2010).

Alternatively it is the position of the State that even with any supposed

deficiencies by defense counsel the evidence was so clear and that the jury verdict is

no undermined. Defendant merely claimed the victim was not telling the truth, which

was contradicted by his own statements admitting the sexual contact....

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